Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 9/8/2021 by Tayuan Ma, Deputy Clerk

Case No. S_____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LAW FINANCE GROUP, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

SARAH PLOTT KEY,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B305790

From an Order Vacating an Arbitration Award Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. 19STCP04251 Honorable Rafael A. Ongkeko

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. May equitable tolling be applied to Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.2's 100-day deadline to serve and file a request to vacate an arbitration award in a response to a petition to confirm the award?

2. May equitable estoppel be applied to Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.2's 100-day deadline to serve and file a request to vacate an arbitration award in a response to a petition to confirm the award?

3. May a court confirm an arbitration award that on its face violates fundamental public policy and contravenes unwaivable statutory rights, regardless of compliance with Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.2's 100-day deadline to serve and file a request to vacate an arbitration award in a response to a petition to confirm the award?

4. Where a petition to confirm an arbitration award is filed within 100 days of service of the award, and a response requesting the award be vacated is timely filed pursuant to the 10day time limit of Code of Civil Procedure section 1290.6, is the response timely regardless of whether it is filed more than 100 days after service of the award?

I.

II. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal's published opinion ("Opinion") reversing the trial court's order vacating an arbitration award and ordering confirmation of an award that violates public policy, contravenes unwaivable statutory rights, and enforces an illegal contract, stands established law regarding statutory time limits on its head. It conflicts with numerous decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeal. The Opinion holds, for the first time, that the statutory time limit to file and serve a request to vacate an arbitration award in a response to a petition to confirm the award is a jurisdictional and absolute deadline that is not subject to equitable tolling or equitable estoppel, and compels confirmation of publicpolicy-violative arbitration awards.

In 1961, the Legislature adopted the recommendation of the California Law Revision Commission to repeal and reenact the California Arbitration Act. Of significance here are two statutory time limits applicable to requests to vacate arbitration awards. Parties to an arbitration may request a court vacate an award either by filing a petition to vacate or in response to the other parties' petition to confirm the award. A petition to vacate is to be filed within 100 days of the award's service. As to requests to vacate awards in responses to petitions to confirm, one statute requires responses to be filed within 100 days of the award's service (Code Civ. Proc., § 1288.2), while another statute requires responses to be filed within 10 days of the petition to confirm (Code Civ. Proc.,

§ 1290.6).¹ Over the ensuing decades, these two statutes have created much confusion.

This Court has never addressed the interplay of these time limits. As the Second District stated more than 10 years ago: "We believe the time may have come for our Supreme Court to provide definitive guidance on the time deadlines a party who seeks to vacate an arbitration award faces when the prevailing party in the arbitration has filed a petition to confirm the award." (*Oaktree Capital Management, L.P. v. Bernard* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 60, 67-68.) The parties did not petition for review of *Oaktree* in 2010; certainly, it is time for the Court to provide guidance now.

Equally important, the Opinion conflicts with this Court's recent authority requiring that courts presume statutory deadlines are subject to equitable tolling. (*Saint Francis Memorial Hospital v. State Dept. of Public Health* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 710, 720.) The Opinion also conflicts with the Court's prior authority that statutory deadlines are generally subject to equitable estoppel even when the Legislature forecloses equitable tolling (*Lantzy v. Centex Homes* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 363, 383-384), as well as with numerous Court of Appeal decisions applying equitable estoppel to the 100-day time limits for requests to vacate an award.

Furthermore, by ordering confirmation of an award that on its face violates the public policy underlying the California

¹ All further undesignated statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure.

Financing Law and contravenes unwaivable statutory rights, the Opinion enforces a void and illegal consumer loan agreement. Thus, the Opinion conflicts with the Court's authority that courts may not confirm arbitration awards enforcing void and illegal contracts (*Loving & Evans v. Blick* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 603, 607, 609, 611-612), and a Court of Appeal decision refusing to confirm an award enforcing an illegal contract. The Court should grant review to address these conflicts.

Finally, the Court should grant review to provide necessary guidance on the relationship between section 1288.2's 100day time limit and section 1290.6's 10-day time limit. Specifically, the Court should determine that a response to a petition to confirm an arbitration award filed within 100 days of the award's service, timely requests the award's vacatur if filed within 10 days of the petition pursuant to section 1290.6, even when filed more than 100 days after the award's service.

The Court has never addressed these issues, the Opinion conflicts with this Court's decisions and decisions of the Court of Appeal, and the issues are of statewide importance impacting great numbers of arbitration litigants. For all of these reasons, the Court should grant review to guide the courts and litigants and resolve the conflicts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

III.

Defendant and Respondent Sarah Plott Key borrowed \$2.4 million from Plaintiff and Appellant Law Finance Group, LLC ("LFG") to help finance her probate action establishing that her sister exercised undue influence over their mother in orchestrating an amendment to their parents' trust that effectively disinherited Key. (Opinion ("Opn.") 2, 4; 1 Appellant's Appendix ("AA") AA 107.) The loan was a consumer loan, but LFG illegally charged compound interest and servicing fees violating the California Financing Law (Fin. Code, § 22000 et seq.). (Opn. 4; 1 AA 113-116.) Key prevailed by invalidating the trust amendment, but the probate proceedings are ongoing. (Opn. 2.) Key repaid the \$2.4 million she borrowed, but refused to pay the illegal interest and fees. (Opn. 2, 5.)

LFG demanded arbitration under its loan agreement. (Opn. 2, 5.) The arbitrators *agreed* with Key that the loan was a consumer loan and LFG had willfully charged compound interest and servicing fees in violation of the Financing Law. (Opn. 5; 9 AA 4286.) Under Financial Code section 22750, subdivision (a), the loan agreement was therefore void and completely unenforceable. Nevertheless, the arbitrators enforced the illegal and void loan agreement and awarded LFG simple interest, attorneys' fees and costs. (Opn. 2, 5.) This violated the statute. The arbitrators issued a modified award of more than \$1.6 million against Key on September 18, 2019. (Opn. 2, 5.)

LFG filed a Petition to Confirm the award on October 1,

2019, less than two weeks after the award's service. (Opn. 5.) On October 10, 2019 (22 days after the award's service), counsel for the parties discussed and later confirmed in writing: (1) their mutual intent to disqualify the assigned trial judge, (2) Key's planned filing of a Petition to Vacate Arbitration Award, (3) Key's planned separate Response to LFG's Petition to Confirm, (4) coordination of the same hearing date for the competing petitions, (5) a briefing schedule based on the yet-to-be-obtained hearing date, and (6) Key's desire for a March or April 2020 hearing date. (Opn. 5-6; 9 AA 4249-4250, 4257.)

Key's counsel agreed to accept service of LFG's Petition to Confirm instead of requiring personal service on Key, and to file the disqualification motion (exhausting Key's one peremptory challenge). (Opn. 6; 9 AA 4250, 4257, 4259.) Counsel for both parties agreed they would determine the briefing schedule for the two petitions and responses from the same hearing date, they would utilize the general motion briefing schedule as the agreed schedule, and the agreed schedule would take the place of the arbitration deadlines. (Opn. 6; 9 AA 4249-4259, 4272-4276.) LFG agreed Key did not need to file her Petition to Vacate until a hearing date was set for LFG's Petition to Confirm. (9 AA 4251-4254, 4265-4267, 4274-4276.)

After two disqualification motions, a third judge was assigned. (9 AA 4275.) LFG proposed a February 20, 2020 hearing date, and on December 12, 2019, Key's counsel agreed. (9 AA 4251-4252.) The February 20, 2020 hearing date was obtained for both

petitions. (9 AA 4252-4254.) The parties' counsel agreed that Key's Petition to Vacate and the parties' responses to the petitions would be filed using general motion deadlines (under section 1005, subdivision (b)). (9 AA 4249-4250, 4257.)

In accordance with the agreement, Key filed her Petition to Vacate on January 27, 2020 (16 court days before February 20 (section 1005, subdivision (b)). (Opn. 6.) Key and LFG filed their responses on February 5, 2020 (nine court days before February 20) section 1005, subdivision (b)). (Opn. 6; 9 AA 4245.) Key's response requested the award be vacated for failing to void the loan. (Opn. 6-7.) In opposing Key's Petition to Vacate (only after the 100-day period had elapsed on December 27, 2019), LFG reneged on the agreement and asserted Key's Petition to Vacate was untimely. (9 AA 4254.) The parties filed replies on February 11, 2020 (five court days before February 20 (section 1005, subdivision (b)). (9 AA 4227-4276.) LFG claimed the trial court lacked jurisdiction to vacate the award because her Petition to Vacate was filed more than 100 days after the award's service. (9 AA 4228.) Key's reply was supported by declarations and documentary evidence concerning the agreement to extend statutory deadlines. (9 AA 4248-4276.)²

LFG benefitted from this agreement. First, LFG did not have to personally serve Key. (9 AA 4250, 4275.) Second, LFG

² The evidence concerning counsel's agreement came from unrebutted and unobjected-to declarations from Key's counsel and counsel's emails. (8 AA 4021-4040; 9 AA 4227-4231, 4248-4276; RT 1-12.) LFG's counsel submitted no declaration.

disqualified a second assigned judge after Key disqualified the first. (9 AA 4250, 4275.) Third, an earlier, coordinated hearing date for both petitions was obtained. (9 AA 4249-4251, 4259-4262.) Finally, LFG obtained additional time to respond to Key's Petition to Vacate. (9 AA 4254.) Counsel's agreement was based largely on their disqualifications of two assigned judges and procedural issues outside of their control, including delays from the superior court's hearing reservation system. (9 AA 4249-4251.) This precluded Key from filing a Petition to Vacate until she had obtained a reservation date from the assigned courtroom. It is undisputed that the parties both acted in accordance with the agreement counsel had reached.

The trial court found the parties had agreed to extend the statutory time limits based on their communications, and thus Key's Response to LFG's Petition to Confirm was timely, or alternatively the trial court exercised its discretion to consider the response. (Opn. 7; 9 AA 4282 ["As far as timeliness of Key's response in opposition, the court has reviewed the evidence and chronology Key submits regarding the parties' various communications leading up to the hearing. Based on the evidence submitted, the court finds Key's response is timely under CCP § 1290.6 and should be considered on its merits. If there is a need to extend the time to the actual filing date to enable the court to decide the petition on its merits, the court finds good cause to grant such an extension."].)

The trial court vacated the award: "On the merits, the trial court found that 'the arbitrators exceeded their powers by issuing an award that violates a party's unwaivable statutory rights

or that contravenes an explicit legislative expression of public policy." (Opn. 7; 9 AA 4286 ["[T]he arbitrators found that LFG violated Financial Code sections 22309 (impermissible compound interest) and 22306 (impermissible service fee). (Award ¶¶ 36-37.) Key establishes the requirements of Finance Code section 22750(a) are satisfied because LFG willfully charged or contracted for an amount in excess of what is permitted by the [Financing Law]. Section 22750(a) renders the agreement void."].)

Division Two of the Second District reversed, and ordered confirmation of the public-policy-violative award in a published opinion on July 30, 2021 (Opn. 1, 20-22), and denied Key's petition for rehearing with modifications on August 19, 2021 (Modified Opinion 3 ("Mod.").

IV. REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

The Opinion held that section 1288.2's 100-day time limit to file and serve a request to vacate an arbitration award in a response to a petition to confirm the award is "jurisdictional" like the deadline for filing an appeal. (Opn. 3, 17, citing the division's own decisions in *Santa Monica College Faculty Assn. v. Santa Monica Community College Dist.* (2015) 243 Cal.App.4th 538, 545 (*Santa Monica College*) and *Douglass v. Serenivision, Inc.* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 376, 385 (*Douglass*).)³ This fundamental error of

³ None of the parties sought review of these two decisions.

statewide importance underlies the Opinion's holdings that equitable tolling and equitable estoppel are not applicable to section 1288.2's response deadline. (Opn. 17-20, Mod. 2-3.)

Since its enactment in 1961, this Court has not addressed section 1288.2's deadline.⁴ But recently, the Court applied equitable tolling to Government Code section 11523's similar deadline to file a petition for writ of administrative mandate. (*Saint Francis Memorial Hospital v. State Dept. of Public Health* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 710, 723 (*Saint Francis*).)⁵ And in *Lantzy v. Centex Homes* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 363, 383-384 (*Lantzy*), the Court held that equitable estoppel may apply to statutory deadlines even when the Legislature has foreclosed equitable tolling. The Opinion thus conflicts with this Court's *Saint Francis* and *Lantzy* decisions and a number of Court of Appeal decisions.⁶

⁴ Section 1288.2, enacted in 1961 and never amended, provides: "A response requesting that an award be vacated or that an award be corrected shall be served and filed not later than 100 days after the date of service of a signed copy of the award."

⁵ Government Code section 11523 provides in relevant part: "Except as otherwise provided in this section, [a] petition [for writ of administrative mandate] shall be filed within 30 days after the last day on which reconsideration can be ordered [by the administrative agency]."

⁶ Abers v. Rohrs (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 1199, 1208-1214 (Abers); Coordinated Construction, Inc. v. Canoga Big "A," Inc. (1965) 238
Cal.App.2d 313, 318-320 (Coordinated); DeMello v. Souza (1973) 36
Cal.App.3d 79, 84-85 (DeMello); So. Cal. Pipe Trades Dist. Council No. 16 v. Merritt (1981) 126 Cal.App.3d 530, 541 (So. Cal. Pipe); Elden v. Superior Court (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 1497, 1512 (Elden); Eternity Investments, Inc. v. Brown (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 739, 746

The Opinion's jurisdictional error also underlies its holding that a court must confirm an arbitration award that violates fundamental public policy and contravenes unwaivable statutory rights if a request to vacate the award is not made within 100 days of the award. (Mod. 2-3.) This holding conflicts with this Court's decision barring confirmation of void contracts in *Loving & Evans v*. *Blick* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 603, 607, 609, 611-612 (*Loving*) and the Court of Appeal's decision in *South Bay Radiology Medical Associates v*. *Asher* (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 1074, 1080-1081 (*South Bay*).

Finally, the Opinion holds that where a Petition to Confirm is filed within 100 days of the award and a response seeking to vacate the award is timely filed under section 1290.6, the response is nevertheless untimely when filed more than 100 days after the award. (Opn. 8-15.) This holding conflicts with Court of Appeal decisions and the Court has never addressed the issue.

The Court should grant review to resolve these conflicts and decide these issues of statewide importance for the first time.

A. Review Is Warranted Because The Opinion Conflicts With This Court's Precedent On Equitable Tolling

As the California Arbitration Act provides, parties to arbitration awards may request a court to vacate arbitration awards

⁽Eternity Investments); see also Lovret v. Seyfarth (1972) 22 Cal.App.3d 841, 856 (Lovret); Trabuco Highlands Community Assn. v. Head (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1183, 1192, fn. 10 (Trabuco); Shepherd v. Greene (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 989, 993 (Shepherd); Humes v. Margil Ventures, Inc. (1985) 174 Cal.App.3d 486, 498-500 (Humes).

by a petition to vacate (§ 1288) or by requesting vacatur in response to a petition to confirm (§ 1285.2). Sections 1288 (petition to vacate) and 1288.2 (response requesting vacatur) provide 100-day time limits for such requests. Contrary to the Opinion (Opn. 17-20; Mod. 2-3), section 1288.2's 100-day time limit is not absolute or jurisdictional and is subject to equitable tolling.

1. Under This Court's Controlling Precedent, Statutory Time Limits Are Presumed Subject To Equitable Tolling

In Saint Francis, this Court held that equitable tolling generally applies to statutory time limits. (9 Cal.5th at pp. 717, 723, 730-731 [30-day time limit to petition for writ of administrative mandate subject to equitable tolling for mistake in calculating deadline].) Courts presume statutory time limits are subject to equitable tolling. (Id. at pp. 719-720.)

As this Court emphasized, the availability of equitable tolling underlies the Legislature's adoption of all limitation periods. (*Saint Francis, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 721.) "Equitable tolling is a judicially created, nonstatutory doctrine that suspend[s] or extend[s] a statute of limitations as necessary to ensure fundamental practicality and fairness. The doctrine applies occasionally and in special situations to soften the harsh impact of technical rules which might otherwise prevent a good faith litigant from having a day in court. Courts draw authority to toll a filing deadline from their inherent equitable powers...." (*Id.* at p. 720, internal citations and quotation marks omitted.)

In determining whether a statutory time limit is subject to equitable tolling, the statute's deadline does not itself bar equitable relief. (*Saint Francis, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 720.) A statutory deadline may reflect a goal for the time of filing without foreclosing equitable tolling. (*Id.* at p. 721.) Nor does the Legislature's provision of one type of statutory tolling foreclose general equitable tolling. (*Id.* at p. 722.)

Rather, in determining the applicability of equitable tolling, the courts look to any statutory prohibitions,⁷ the length of the deadline, the statutory context, and any legislative intent to bar equitable relief. (*Saint Francis, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at pp. 719-724; see also *Ventura Coastal, LLC v. Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Bd.* (2020) 58 Cal.App.5th 1, 42 (*Ventura Coastal*) [30-day time limit to petition for writ of administrative mandate not jurisdictional and may be equitably tolled].) While the time to file a notice of appeal is jurisdictional, "an ordinary statute of limitations governing the time for filing a pleading initiating an action is subject to the equitable tolling doctrine." (*Ventura Coastal, supra*, 58 Cal.App.5th at p. 36.)

⁷ The Legislature may expressly preclude equitable tolling. (See, e.g., *Laird v. Blacker* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 606, 618 [equitable tolling prohibited in attorney malpractice limitations statute (§ 340.6) providing that limitations period shall "in no event" be tolled except as specified; *Battuello v. Battuello* (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 842, 847, superseded by statute on other grounds (*Battuello*) [equitable tolling prohibited in one-year limitations statute (§ 366.2) for surviving action against deceased person, providing that period "shall not be tolled or extended for any reason" except as specified.) The Legislature has not done so for section 1288.2.

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