No. S270798

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

LAW FINANCE GROUP, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

SARAH PLOTT KEY,

Defendant and Respondent.

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Div. Two
Case No. B305790
Appeal from Los Angeles Superior Court
Case No. 19STCP04251
Honorable Rafael A. Ongkeko

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WEINBERG GONSER LLP

Christopher L. Frost, SBN 200336
chris@weinberg-gonser.com
10866 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1650
Los Angeles, California 90024
(424) 239-2850

GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP

Cynthia E. Tobisman, SBN 197983
ctobisman@gmsr.com
*Alana H. Rotter, SBN 236666
arotter@gmsr.com
5900 Wilshire Boulevard, 12th Floor

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

The Opinion applied Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.2's plain language to find that Key's request to vacate an arbitration award was untimely. The Opinion rejected equitable estoppel on case-specific factual grounds, "[e]ven assuming (without deciding)" estoppel can apply to the section 1288.2 deadline. (Opinion 16.) And, the order modifying the Opinion and denying rehearing succinctly disposed of the new arguments Key raised on rehearing and that reappear in her petition for review.

None of this creates any conflict or unsettled issue in the law on an important issue warranting this Court's attention. The petition should be denied.

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

I. There Is No Review-Worthy Issue Regarding The Interaction Of Code Of Civil Procedure Sections 1288.2 And 1290.6.

Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.2 requires that a request to vacate an arbitration award, filed in response to a petition to confirm the award, "*shall be served and filed not later than 100 days after the date of service of a signed copy of the award*" upon the respondent. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1288.2, italics added.)

It is undisputed that Key did not file her response seeking vacatur within the 100-day deadline. (Opinion 6.) The Opinion therefore held that the response was untimely. (Opinion 8-15.)

This holding is not controversial. It is a straightforward and obvious application of section 1288.2's plain language to the undisputed circumstances of this case.

Nonetheless, Key contends that review is necessary because, in her view, section 1288.2 does not apply where the petition to *confirm* was filed within 100 days of service of the award. (Petition 11, 18, 37-39.) In that situation, she argues, section 1288.2 drops out of the picture entirely, and the response seeking vacatur need only be timely under section 1290.6, which requires generally that a response to any arbitration-related petition be filed within 10 days of the petition. (*Ibid.*)

There is no important issue of unsettled law here. The Opinion applied section 1288.2 as written, in a way that gives effect to *both* section 1288.2 *and* section 1290.6. (Opinion 12.) By contrast, Key's position "contradicts the plain language of section 1288.2" and would create "an exception that does not exist in the statutory language." (Opinion 10.) Key's advocating a statutory interpretation contrary to the plain language of the statute does not create an issue warranting this Court's review.

Nor, contrary to Key's contention (Petition 37-39), is there confusion or conflict in the case law regarding section 1288.2. The decisions that she cites do *not* hold that section 1290.6's 10-day deadline excuses the need to comply with section 1288.2

if a petition to confirm was filed within 100 days of service of the award. None of her cited decisions squarely considered this issue. At most, some of the cited decisions hold that where section 1290.6's 10-day deadline is *earlier* than section 1288.2's 100-day deadline, the respondent must comply with that earlier deadline—a rule which results in the response being filed within *both* section 1290.6's deadline *and* section 1288.2's deadline. (E.g., *Coordinated Construction, Inc. v. Canoga Big 'A,' Inc.* (1965) 238 Cal.App.2d 313, 317.)

Key relies on loose language in decisions that did not consider whether section 1288.2 permits a response to be filed *more than* 100 days after the award is served, as long as it is within section 1290.6's deadline of 10 days after the petition to confirm is filed. (See Opinion 8-15 & fn. 5.) None of those decisions adopts the rule she advocates.

Indeed, the Opinion explained that one of the decisions that Key relies on—a decision signed by two of the same justices as the Opinion—does not mean what Key claims it means:

Our prior decision in *Santa Monica, supra*, 243 Cal.App.4th 538, is not to the contrary. Although in that case we stated that, “[a]s a general matter, a party seeking to vacate an arbitration award must either (1) file and serve a petition to vacate that award ‘not later than 100 days after the date of service of a signed copy of the award’ [citations], or (2) file and serve a timely response (that is, within 10 days) to the other party’s petition to confirm that award, which seeks to vacate that award [citations]” (*id.* at p. 544, italics added), our use of the word “or” was not a holding that a

response to a petition that also seeks to vacate an arbitration award is jurisdictionally proper as long as it is a timely response and irrespective of the 100-day deadline. That is because (1) the petition to vacate filed in *Santa Monica* was an affirmative petition (not a response) that was served more than 100 days after the award was served (*id.* at p. 454) and (2) the applicability of section 1288.2 was not at issue (and, indeed, section 1288.2 was never cited at all) (*Silverbrand v. County of Los Angeles* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 106, 127 [““cases are not authority for propositions not considered””]).

(Opinion 15, discussing *Santa Monica College Faculty Assn. v. Santa Monica Community College Dist.* (2015) 243 Cal.App.4th 538.)

The Opinion also made clear that another case Key relies on, *Oaktree Capital Management, L.P. v. Bernard* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 60, does not stand for the proposition Key claims. (Opinion 13, fn. 5.) The Opinion does not mince words: “Key cites *Oaktree Capital* for the proposition that, when a petition to confirm is filed within 100 days of service of an arbitration award, ‘the 10-day rule trumps the 100-day limitations period.’ The opinion does not support such a broad reading.” (*Ibid.*)

The Opinion goes on to explain in detail why Key’s construction of *Oaktree Capital* is incorrect and why instead, *Oaktree Capital* is “consistent with the rule that, when a party requests vacation of an arbitration award in response to a petition to confirm the award, the party’s response must comply

with *both* the 10-day deadline in section 1290.6 and the 100-day deadline in section 1288.2.” (*Ibid.*, original italics.)

The Court of Appeal’s explanations of the case law—including case law authored by the same justices that decided the instant appeal—belie Key’s assertion of a conflict in the case law. There is no conflict. Prior case law is entirely consistent with the rule espoused in the Opinion.

II. There Is No Review-Worthy Issue As To Equitable Tolling Or Equitable Estoppel.

Key also seeks review on whether equitable tolling or estoppel may be applied to section 1288.2’s clear statutory deadline. (Petition 8, 16-32.) Again, the Opinion presents no issue meeting the review criteria.

A. Key’s Premise Is Flawed: The Opinion Finds Equitable Relief Unavailable *On The Specific Record Here*, Not As A Broad Legal Proposition.

Key’s pitch fails at the outset, because the Opinion does not present the issues she proposes. Her premise is that the Opinion categorically holds that equitable tolling and equitable estoppel cannot excuse missing section 1288.2’s deadline—and that this supposed holding conflicts with existing case law. (Petition 16-17, 29.) But the Opinion does not contain the broad legal holding that Key claims. Just the opposite: *The Opinion assumes that equitable relief may be available as to section 1288.2.* (Opinion 16; Order Modifying Opinion And Denying Rehearing 2.) The Opinion recited: “Even assuming (without deciding) that there

could be situations in which a party's failure to comply with the 100-day rule may be excused on equitable grounds, this is not one of them.” (Opinion 16.) The Opinion found that relief was unavailable *on the specific record here. (Ibid.)*

An opinion that assumes that equitable relief may be available as to section 1288.2, and that finds that a party has failed to establish a basis for relief on the specific record at hand, presents no basis or need to review whether equitable tolling or equitable estoppel can ever excuse missing section 1288.2's deadline. That issue simply isn't presented.

B. Key's Equitable Tolling Argument Is Both Forfeited And Without Merit.

Equitable tolling does not present a review-worthy issue for other reasons, too. Among other things:

First, Key forfeited the issue by failing to timely raise it. She raised equitable tolling based on *Saint Francis Memorial Hospital v. State Dept. of Public Health* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 710 (*Saint Francis*) for the first time in her petition for rehearing. (Order Modifying Opinion And Denying Rehearing 2.) She did not establish any good cause for failing to include it in her respondent's brief.

Issues raised for the first time in a rehearing petition “are not properly before” this Court. (*Conservatorship of Susan T.* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1005, 1012-1013.) That observation is in line with the rule that, “As a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the

petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal.” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1).) Here, Key did not timely raise equitable tolling based on *Saint Francis*. This Court therefore should not consider it. (*Conservatorship of Susan T.*, *supra*, 8 Cal.4th at p. 1013 [“on petition for review we normally will not consider any issue that could have been but was not timely raised in the briefs filed in the Court of Appeal”].)

Second, as the Opinion emphasized, under *Saint Francis*, equitable tolling applies “only occasionally and in special situations,” and requires “reasonable and good faith conduct on the part of the plaintiff.” (Order Modifying Opinion And Denying Rehearing 3, quotation marks omitted.) The Opinion concluded that “Key’s claimed reliance on LFG’s purported agreement to extend the 100-day deadline was not objectively reasonable because LFG did not have the authority to extend that deadline.” (*Ibid.*) That case-specific conclusion depends on the reasonableness of Key’s claimed reliance, not on any legal conclusion that courts can never provide equitable relief relating to section 1288.2. As the Opinion made clear, its conclusion that Key’s claimed reliance was unreasonable “is unrelated to the court’s authority to provide equitable relief.” (*Ibid.*) There is no conflict with *Saint Francis*.

C. The Opinion Does Not Create Any Conflict As To Equitable Estoppel.

Key’s proposed estoppel issue fares no better. Her only argument that the equitable estoppel issue meets the criteria for

review focuses on whether relief is conceptually available—an issue that the Opinion did not reach, but instead assumed in Key’s favor. (See Section II.A., *ante*.)

The Opinion’s only *actual* estoppel ruling is that Key cannot establish the necessary reasonable reliance, because she and her attorney are charged with knowledge that parties cannot waive or extend section 1288.2’s deadline. (Opinion 16-20.) Key has not developed an argument that the Opinion’s reasonable-reliance finding meets the review criteria—i.e., that the issue is unsettled or recurs frequently enough to warrant this Court’s attention. She may not do so for the first time in reply.

Key’s sole argument as to the Opinion’s *actual* estoppel ruling is a claim of factual error: She contends that the parties undisputedly agreed to “extend the statutory deadlines” and that she reasonably relied on that agreement, whereas the Opinion found that “[t]he evidence of such an agreement is, at best, ambiguous” and that in any event, she could not have reasonably believed that parties can stipulate to extend section 1288.2’s deadline. (Petition 32; Opinion 16-20 & fn. 7.)

Error correction is no basis for review. But even putting that aside, the record refutes Key’s claim that the parties agreed to extend the section 1288.2 deadline. The parties’ emails, and the declaration by Key’s counsel who talked to respondent’s counsel, only reference extending *section 1290.6*’s 10-day deadline, which section 1290.6 expressly allows. (9 AA 4249-4276.) There is no evidence counsel ever discussed section 1288.2

which, unlike section 1290.6, does *not* say its deadline can be extended by agreement of the parties. (*Ibid.*; Opinion 14.)¹ Thus, as a factual matter, too, this case is not an appropriate vehicle for reviewing the issue that Key claims merits this Court’s attention.

III. There Is No Review-Worthy Issue Regarding Decisions Prohibiting Confirmation Of Arbitration Awards Violating Public Policy Or Contravening Unwaivable Statutory Rights.

Finally, Key seeks review on whether a trial court can vacate an arbitration award that violates public policy and that contravenes statutory rights, where the party seeking vacatur failed to comply with Code of Civil Procedure section 1288 and 1288.2’s jurisdictional deadline to seek vacatur. (Petition 8, 10-11, 32-37.) Again, there is no basis for review here.

First, as with equitable tolling, Key has forfeited this issue by failing to timely raise it: It surfaced for the first time in her petition for rehearing, after the Court of Appeal decided the case. (Order Modifying Opinion and Denying Rehearing 2.) Key did

¹ The record belies Key’s assertion that “[t]he trial court found the parties had agreed to extend the statutory time limits” (Petition 15.) In fact, the trial court found only that “Key’s response is timely under *CCP § 1290.6*”; it made no finding as to any agreement to extend the section 1288.2 deadline, and it expressly found that Key’s petition to vacate was jurisdictionally barred because it was not filed within 100 days of service of the award, as required by Code of Civil Procedure section 1288. (9 AA 4281-4282, italics added.)

not identify any good cause for failing to raise it earlier. “It is much too late to raise an issue for the first time in a petition for rehearing.” (*Midland Pacific Building Corp. v. King* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 264, 276; see also *Conservatorship of Susan T.*, *supra*, 8 Cal.4th at pp. 1012-1013 [arguments raised in the Court of Appeal for the first time in a rehearing petition “are not properly before us”; “on petition for review we normally will not consider any issue that could have been but was not timely raised in the briefs filed in the Court of Appeal”].) This Court therefore should not consider it.

Second, despite Key’s protestations, there is no conflict between the Opinion and *Loving & Evans v. Blick* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 603 (*Loving*). *Loving* considered whether a claim that an entire transaction was illegal triggers an exception to the general rule that arbitration awards are not subject to judicial review. (*Id.* at pp. 609-615.) *Loving* did not address whether a vacatur request based on illegality must be asserted within the deadlines established by sections 1288 and 1288.2. *Loving* therefore is not authority for the rule Key urges, nor does it conflict with the Opinion. (*Silverbrand, supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 127.)²

² There likewise is no conflict with *United Firefighters of Los Angeles v. City of Los Angeles* (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 1576 or *Berg v. Traylor* (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 809. (Petition 36, fn. 10.) *United Firefighters* held that the appellants’ failure to file a timely petition or response seeking vacatur prevented them from arguing for vacatur based on the substance of the award. (231 Cal.App.3d at p. 1581.) It—and *Berg*—allowed a challenge

Moreover, *Loving* involved a claim of “illegality of the *entire* transaction.” (33 Cal.2d at p. 609, italics added.) Here, the trial court found that, “Key has *not* shown that the arbitrator has enforced an entire contract or transaction that is illegal.” (9 AA 4284, italics added.)

Key argued, and the trial court agreed, that the award violated *public policy*, by which Key meant simply that instead of imposing a statutory penalty of voiding the entire loan agreement, the arbitrators modified the agreement’s terms to remove the terms they found problematic. But the modified terms that the arbitrators included in the award are not themselves unlawful, nor is the award unjust.

Indeed, Key borrowed \$2.4 million to fund litigation. (Opinion 4.) She prevailed in the litigation, winning a share of her parents’ estate worth approximately \$20 million. (*Id.* at 5.) She repaid the loan principal, but refused to pay any of the service fees or interest on the principal amount, as the loan agreement required. (*Ibid.*) After a multi-day evidentiary hearing, the arbitrators rejected virtually all of Key’s attacks on the loan agreement. (1 AA 111-112.) The arbitrators found that

to the award only based on the arbitrators’ *lack of jurisdiction to decide the controversy* in the first place. (*United Firefighters, supra*, 231 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1581-1582; *Berg, supra*, 148 Cal.App.4th at pp. 817-822.) Key has not challenged the arbitrators’ jurisdiction over her. (See *Santa Monica, supra*, 243 Cal.App.4th at pp. 545-546 [distinguishing *United Firefighters* on this ground].)

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